
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MICHAEL DEAN BILLEY, 
 

Defendant. 

 
 
 
 

Case No. 17-CR-108-CVE 
 

 
 

Motion to Dismiss Defendant’s Untimely § 2255 Motion  
  

 The government requests that the Court dismiss Michael Dean Billey’s § 2255 

motion (Dkt. # 58) because it was filed after the applicable statute of limitations 

expired, and because Billey presents no basis for equitable tolling.  

  

Relevant Facts 

 In January 2017, Billey met undercover officers in Salina, Oklahoma to sell them 

two sawed-off shot guns. (PSR at ¶ 7). Upon his arrest, Billey admitted to having 

sold firearms and controlled substances for several months. (Id.).  

 Billey pleaded guilty to knowingly possessing two firearms with barrel lengths of 

less than 18 inches, not registered to him in the National Firearms Registration and 

Transfer Record, in violation of 26 U.S.C. §§ 5861(d) and 5871. (Dkt. # 26). On 

April 9, 2018, this Court accepted the plea agreement and sentenced Billey to 56 

months of imprisonment. (Dkt. ## 45, 46 at 2). Billey did not appeal; nor did he file 
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a § 2255 motion within a year after the judgment of his conviction became final.  

 On December 7, 2020, Billey filed a pro se motion titled: “Motion to Dismiss All 

Counts of the Indictment as it is Based on a Statute Which is Unconstitutional Both 

on its Face and As Applied and Because Prosecution Pursuant to the Statute is 

Fundamentally Unfair and Violates Due Process: And Motion to Dismiss Invalid 

Indictment: Motion to Strike Judgement and Reopen Case and; Motion Establishing 

New Law and Territory that No Longer Gives this Court Jurisdiction Pursuant to 

Rule 60(b)(2) (and 18 U.S.C. § 1153(b).” (Dkt. # 49). In his motion, Billey argued 

that his indictment should be dismissed and challenged his conviction and sentence 

by claiming that his Native American and Veteran status made him believe he was 

exempt from registering the weapons he possessed; therefore, under Rehaif v. United 

States, 139 S. Ct. 2191 (2019), his sentence violates his due process rights. (Id. at 13, 

23). He further argued that 26 U.S.C. § 5861(d) is unconstitutional as applied 

“because it goes beyond the power to tax.” (Id. at 24). After the government filed a 

response, the Court notified Billey that it intended to recharacterize his motion as a 

§ 2255 motion, warned him of the potential consequences of that recharacterization, 

and gave him the opportunity to withdraw or amend his motion. (Dkt. # 52). 

 On March 12, 2021, Billey filed a § 2255 pro se motion (Dkt. # 58) and did not 

withdraw his original motion to dismiss his indictment. However, the Court found 

that Billey’s original motion was mooted by his § 2255 motion and ordered the 

government to respond. (Dkt. ## 60, 61).     
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Argument & Authorities 

Billey’s § 2255 motion should be dismissed because it was filed more than a year after his 
conviction became final. 
 
 A motion under § 2255 is governed by the Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death 

Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA), which allows prisoners one year to file the motion. 

28 U.S.C. § 2255(f); United States v. Hurst, 322 F.3d 1256, 1259 (10th Cir. 2003). The 

one-year period runs from the latest of: 

(1) the date on which the judgment of conviction becomes final;  
(2) the date on which the impediment to making a motion created by 
governmental action in violation of the Constitution or laws of the 
United States is removed, if the petitioner was prevented from making a 
motion by such governmental action;  
(3) the date on which the right asserted was initially recognized by the 
Supreme Court, if that right has been newly recognized by the Supreme 
Court and made retroactively applicable to cases on collateral review; 
or 
(4) the date on which the facts supporting the claim or claims presented 
could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence. 
 

28 U.S.C. § 2255(f). When a defendant does not pursue a direct appeal, his 

conviction becomes final and the one-year period for filing a motion under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2255 begins to run after the time for filing an appeal expires, 14 days after the 

district court enters its judgment on the docket. United States v. Prows, 448 F.3d 1223, 

1227-28 (10th Cir. 2006). 

 Here, this Court entered its judgment on the docket on April 9, 2018. Billey did 

not appeal; therefore, his conviction became final when the time for appeal expired 

on April 23, 2018. Under 28 U.S.C. § 2255(f)(1), the statute of limitations for his 
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§ 2255 motion expired one year later, on April 23, 2019. Accordingly, both Billey’s 

December 2020 motion and his March 2021 motion were filed after the statute of 

limitations expired and should be dismissed as untimely. 

Billey’s motion does not warrant equitable tolling. 

 “AEDPA’s one-year statute of limitations is subject to equitable tolling but only 

in rare and exceptional circumstances.” Gibson v. Klinger, 232 F.3d 799, 808 (10th 

Cir. 2000) (internal quotations omitted). “Equitable tolling would be appropriate, for 

example, when a prisoner is actually innocent, when an adversary’s conduct -- or 

other uncontrollable circumstances -- prevents the prisoner from filing within the 

limitations period, or when a prisoner actively pursues a judicial remedy but files a 

defective pleading during the statutory period.” Id. Equitable tolling “is available 

only when an inmate diligently pursues his claims and demonstrates that the failure 

to timely file was caused by extraordinary circumstances beyond [his] control.” 

Marsh v. Soares, 223 F.3d 1217, 1220 (10th Cir. 2000). Moreover, “it is well 

established that ignorance of the law, even for an incarcerated pro se petitioner, 

generally does not excuse prompt filing.” Id. (internal quotations omitted).  

 Here, this Court should not apply equitable tolling to Billey’s motion because his 

motion does not meet any of “rare and exceptional circumstances” that warrant 

equitable tolling. Billey does not assert that he was actually innocent; rather, he 

argues that the Court never had jurisdiction to convict him under McGirt v. Oklahoma, 

-- U.S. --, 140 S. Ct. 2452 (2020), and that his Native American and Veteran status 
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made him believe he was exempt from registering the weapons he possessed. (See 

Dkt. # 58 at 3–5, 7, 10). Contrary to his claims, the Supreme Court’s ruling in McGirt 

does not apply to Billey because he was not charged by the State of Oklahoma with a 

major crime committed in Indian Country; rather, Billey was charged with 

committing a federal crime within the Northern District of Oklahoma. This Court 

had subject matter jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3231. Neither his Native American 

nor his Veteran status had any bearing on the federal court’s jurisdiction over federal 

crimes of general applicability. United States v. Hamilton, 764 F. App’x 816, 818 (10th 

Cir. Mar. 25, 2019) (unpublished) (“Federal jurisdiction … extends …to crimes over 

which there is federal jurisdiction regardless of whether an Indian is involved.”), 

quoting United States v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313, 330 n.30 (1978).  

 Billey’s reliance on Rehaif is equally misplaced. In Rehaif, the Supreme Court held 

that the government must prove both that a defendant knew he possessed a firearm 

and that he knew he belonged to the relevant category of persons barred from 

possessing a firearm for prosecutions under § 922(g) and § 924(a)(2). Here, Billey 

pleaded guilty to knowingly possessing an unregistered firearm under 26 U.S.C. § 

5861(d). Because receiving or possessing an unregistered firearm is unlawful under 

§ 5861(d) regardless of a defendant's status, Rehaif does not apply to Billey’s 

conviction and sentence.  

 Nor did any conduct by the government or uncontrollable circumstances prevent 

Billey from filing a timely motion. Billey did not actively pursue a judicial remedy or 
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file a defective pleading during the statutory period. Because Billey has failed to 

present any circumstance that would justify equitable tolling, this Court should 

decline to apply tolling sua sponte. 

 

Conclusion 

 Billey’s § 2255 motion was filed after the statute of limitations under § 2255(f)(1) 

expired, and he has not demonstrated that his diligence or the circumstances warrant 

equitable tolling. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss his untimely § 2255 motion.  

     
 Respectfully submitted, 

CLINTON J. JOHNSON 
Acting United States Attorney 
 

 
 /s/ Leena Alam               

 Leena Alam, OBA # 19035 
 Assistant United States Attorney 
 110 West Seventh Street, Suite 300 
 Tulsa, Oklahoma 74119 
 918.382.2700 
 leena.alam@usdoj.gov 
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Certificate of Service 
 

I certify that on April 13, 2021, I electronically transmitted the foregoing to the Clerk 
of the Court using the ECF System for filing and that a true and correct copy of this 
filing was served by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the following, who is not an 
ECF registrant: 
 
Michael Dean Billey, No. 15270-062 
FCI El Reno 
Federal Correctional Institution 
P.O. Box 1500 
El Reno, OK 73036 
Defendant, Pro Se 
 
 

       
       /s/ Leena Alam               

 Leena Alam 
      Assistant United States Attorney 
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